IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 93-8683

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

VERSUS
JOSE RAMON RODRI GUEZ- SANTI LLAN,
a/ k/ a Jose Ranon Rodri guez,
RI TO GANDARA, and M GUEL MEDI NA- REYES,

Def endant s- Appel | ant s.

Appeals fromthe United States District Court
for the Western District of Texas
( EP- 93- CR- 0008)

(August 15, 1994)
Bef ore REYNALDO G GARZA, SM TH, and PARKER, Circuit Judges.
JERRY EE. SMTH, Circuit Judge:’

M guel Medi na- Reyes and Jose Rodri guez-Santillan appeal their
convi ctions of possession and conspiracy to possess cocaine wth
the intent to distribute it. They challenge the constitutionality
of their sentences and all egi ng prosecutorial m sconduct. Medina-

Reyes also clains that the district court erred in denying his

Local Rule 47.5.1 provides: "The publication of opinions that have no
precedential value and nerely decide particular cases on the basis of well-
settled principles of |aw inposes needl ess expense on the public and burdens
on the | egal profession.” Pursuant to that rule, the court has deternined
that this opinion should not be published.



nmotion for severance. Rito Gandara chall enges the sufficiency of
t he evidence supporting his conviction of conspriracy to possess
cocaine with intent to distribute it. Finding no error, we affirm

all three convictions.

| .
A

Medi na- Reyes was the |leader of a narcotics trafficking
conspiracy that operated between 1989 and 1992 out of El Paso
Abel Cardenas worked for Medina-Reyes, as did Medina-Reyes's
stepson, Hector Rubio. Abel's younger brothers, Steve and Juan,
al so joined the conspiracy.

In August 1989, Juan began working for Abel, primrily
transporting drugs fromHouston to Chi cago and cash fromChi cago to
Houst on. During that period, Juan would fly from El Paso to
Houston, pick up a cocai ne-laden car in Houston, deliver that car
to Chicago, and then return the enpty car and drug noney to
Houston. On Juan's first trip, Medi na-Reyes provided himw th the
El Cam no car that he drove from Houston to Chicago. Thereafter,
Juan transported drugs for Medi na- Reyes on several trips.

As the drug distribution network expanded, Abel, Juan, and
Medi na- Reyes noved the operation to El Paso. At that tine, Juan
met Medi na- Reyes's di stant cousin, Jose Ranon Rodri guez-Santill an,
who picked up the cocaine-filled cars outside a notel in Chicago.

A nunber of vehicles were used to transport the cocaine in

fal se conpartnents that had been built into the vehicles, and each



vehicle typically carried between 45 and 70 kil ograns of cocai ne.
On return trips, cash was carried in the hidden conpartnents. The
cash usually totaled between $250,000 and $1 million. Abel
estimated that he had transported between 1, 000 and 2, 000 pounds of

cocai ne to Chicago, and Juan estimated that he had transported "a
little over a ton" to Rodriguez-Santillan in Chicago.

By 1991, Rito Gandara had becone associated with Abel. He
permtted Abel to park the drug-filled cars in front of Gandara's
house. In Novenber 1991, Gandara was present at a Holiday Inn
out side Chicago with his wife and children, Juan and Abel Cardenas,
and Rubio. Jose Arellano arrived at the hotel to drop off a car,
and Gandara, his wife, Abel, and Abel's girlfriend drove the car
back to El Paso. Gandara told Internal Revenue Servi ce agents that
he had delivered a car to Chicago at Abel's request, but at trial
Gandara deni ed nmaki ng the statenent.

On Novenber 18, 1991, a U S. Border Patrol Agent, Ricardo
Rui z, stopped one car north of Las Cruces, New Mexico. Rui z
noticed that the driver appeared nervous and that the trunk had
been nodi fi ed and appeared to contain a fal se bottom A subsequent
search of the car reveal ed approximately 60 kil ograns of cocaine
hidden in a false conpartnent. Ruiz turned the case over to the
Drug Enforcenent Adm nistration ("DEA").

Later that norning, the DEA office in El Paso received a cal
from an unidentified man who clained that he had information
concerning the checkpoint seizure. On the follow ng day, DEA

agents net wth the man, who identified hinself as Steve Cardenas.



At a later neeting, the agents net his brother Juan. Steve and
Juan subsequently becane confidential informants for the govern-
nment .

Based upon i nformati on provi ded by Steve and Juan, DEA agents
began surveillance on a house in El Paso. On Novenber 20, 1991,
agent s observed several individuals | eave the house and | oad boxes
into a Chevy Bl azer. Agents followed the Blazer, stopped it,
identified thensel ves as DEA agents, and asked the driver whether
they could examne the vehicle and its contents. The driver
identified hinself as Hector Rubi o and consented to a search of the
vehi cl e. Agents recovered boxes containing plastic wapping,
| atex-type material, and cocaine residue. Rubio then agreed to a
search of his residence, which reveal ed $30, 000 cash i n two bundl es
in the dishwasher, $6,000 cash in a bag, a newspaper article
di scussing the Las OCruces search, tw pistols, and various
docunents and recei pts. The search al so uncovered identification
papers for Medi na-Reyes in one of the bedroons.

At anot her residence, DEA agents observed Jose Arell ano | oad
the trunk of a Ford Taurus. The agents followed that car, stopped
it, and obtained consent fromArellano to search the vehicle. The
search reveal ed si xty bricks of cocai ne hidden bel ow a fal se bottom
in the trunk

After the arrest at Las Cruces, the cocai ne shi pnents st opped.
Nevert hel ess, several trips were made to Chicago to bring cash back
to El Paso. Abel Cardenas made such a trip in Decenber 1991 with

Gandara. I n Chicago, Medina-Reyes, Rodriguez-Santillan, and Abel



| oaded nobney into a van, inside the back seat. The noney was
wrapped and taped, and Medi na- Reyes had nmarked the noney-fill ed
packages with his initials, "MR " Upon returning to El Paso, Abel
turned over the noney, which anmounted to roughly $1 mllion, to
Rodr i guez- Santi | | an.

Juan Cardenas al so nade several trips to Chicago to transport
money back to El Paso. Around February 2, 1992, Juan received
$600, 000 from Rodri guez-Santillan in Chicago. At a prearranged
nmeeting on February 6, DEA agents net with Juan in Al buquerque in
order to docunent the fact that the hidden conpartnent was | oaded
wth cash. Agents retrieved the cash, photographed it, replaced
it, and let Juan continue on his trip. Juan proceeded as pl anned
and transferred the noney to Abel, who turned over the nobney to
Rodr i guez- Santi | | an.

Later in February, again directed by Rodri guez-Santill an, Juan
nmade a second trip to Chicago to retrieve roughly $2 mllion. Juan
met with Rodriguez-Santillan in Chicago, and Rodriguez-Santillan
| oaded roughly $1.9 million in cash into the van that Juan had | eft
outside the Holiday Inn. Follow ng a prearranged, staged pull-over
and search of the van on its return trip, DEA agents seized the
money hidden in the van. Sone of the noney was in bundl es marked
"$40, 000, " "$10,000," and "M R " DEA agents seized a total of
$1, 920, 540.

Finally, in later 1992, DEA agents set up surveillance of
Rodri guez-Santillan's residence, shared with Rodolfo Avitia-Reyes

and Medi na- Reyes. A search of a vehicle leaving that residence



reveal ed 233 pounds of mari huana hidden in the car. The agents
obt ai ned search warrants for that address and another El Paso
resi dence. On Decenber 11, 1992, agents executed the warrants,
arrested Medi na- Reyes and Rodri guez-Santillan, and sei zed roughly

360 pounds of mari huana. Gandara was arrested a few nonths | ater.

B

Medi na- Reyes, Rodriguez-Santillan, and Gandara were charged in
a superseding indicted on March 3, 1993, wth conspiracy to possess
cocai ne and mari huana with intent to distribute, in violation of
21 U S.C 88 846 and 841(a)(1), and conspiracy to launder the
proceeds of drug transactions, in violation of 18 U . S.C. 88 371 and
1956(a) (1) (A)(1). Medina-Reyes and Gandara were al so charged with
two counts of possessing cocaine with intent to distribute, in
violation of 21 U S.C. 8§ 841(a)(1l). Medina-Reyes and Rodriguez-
Santillan were additionally charged with one count of possessing
mari huana wth intent to distribute, in violation of 21 U S C
8§ 841(a)(1), and two counts of noney |aundering, in violation of
18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(A)(1).

Medi na- Reyes filed a notion for severance pursuant to FED. R
CRM P. 8(b) and a notion for severance for prejudicial joinder
under FED. R CRM P. 14. The district court denied both notions.
Followng a four-day jury trial, Medina-Reyes and Rodriguez-
Santillan were convicted on all counts, and Gandara was convi ct ed

of one count of possession of cocaine with intent to distribute.






1.

Medi na- Reyes and Rodri guez-Santillan clai mthat the sentencing
schene established in 21 U S.C 8§ 846 and 841 violates the Sixth
Amendnent's guarantee of trial by jury by requiring the district
court, rather than the jury, to determne factors relevant to
sentencing. We reviewthe constitutionality of federal statutes de

novo. United States v. Wcker, 933 F.2d 284, 287-88 (5th Gr.),

cert. denied, 112 S. C. 419 (1991).

Section 841(a) provides,

[I]t shall be unlawful for any person know ngly or
i ntentionally))

(D to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, or
possess with intent to manufacture, distribute, or
di spense, a controlled substance . :
Section 841(b) details the penalties for 8§ 841(a) violations, and
under 8§ 846, a person who conspires to violate § 841 is sentenced
as one who commts the substantive offense.
The Sixth Amendnent does not require that every finding of

fact underlying a sentenci ng deci sion be made by a jury rather than

a judge. Walton v. Arizona, 497 U S. 639, 647-49 (1990). "[T]here

is no Sixth Amendnent right to jury sentencing, even where the

sentence turn on specific findings of fact." MMIllan v. Pennsyl -

vania, 477 U.S. 79, 93 (1986). Whether a Sixth Anendnent right to
ajury trial attaches depends upon whether a particular fact is an
"el enent of the offense" or nerely a "sentencing factor that cones
into play only after the defendant has been found guilty." 1d. at
86.

This court has consistently held that the quantity of a
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subst ance possessed under § 841(a) is not an el enent of the of fense

and is relevant only to sentencing. United States v. Val encia, 957

F.2d 1189 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 113 S. . 254 (1992). For a

penalty under 8§ 841(b)(1) to apply, the quantity of a controlled
substance nust be proven by the governnent at sentencing by a

preponderance of the evidence. United States v. Angulo, 927 F.2d

202, 205 (5th Cr. 1991). Thus, as every court to consider the
constitutionality of these provisions has concl uded, 88 841 and 846

are constitutional. Cf. United States v. Harris, 932 F.2d 1529,

1539 (5th Gr.) (rejecting the "tired argunent that the sentencing
guidelines are unconstitutional since they permt the district
court to resolve factual disputes without the benefit of a jury"),

cert. denied, 112 S. C. 270 (1991); see also Buckley v. Butler,

825 F.2d 895, 903 (5th Cir. 1987) ("[T]he absence of any " bright
line' test in [McMIlan] does not authorize us to disregard the
fundanental differences between sentencing and guilt determ na-

tion."), cert. denied, 486 U S. 1009 (1988).

L1,

Medi na- Reyes and Rodriguez-Santillan also claim that the
district court's admssion of testinony concerning unrelated
m sconduct by those other than the defendants was plain error, and
that the prosecutor commtted gross m sconduct by eliciting and
enphasi zing this testinony. Because neither defendant objected to
the testinony or closing argunent, the statenents are revi ewed for

plain error. |In other words, we will reverse the conviction only



if "the prosecutor's coments, taken as a whole in the context of
the entire case, substantially prejudiced defendant's rights.
Plain error may be recognized "only if the error is so obvious that
our failure to notice it would seriously affect the fairness
integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings and result

in a mscarriage of justice.'" United States v. Mntenayor, 684

F.2d 1118, 1124 (5th Gr. 1982) (quoting United States v. Okenfuss,

632 F.2d 483, 485 (5th Gir. 1980)).

The testinmony and argunent of which Medina-Reyes and
Rodri guez-Santillan conplain on appeal concerns drug transactions
i nvol vi ng Juan Cardenas. For exanple, defendants conplain that the
prosecutor asked Juan, "Getting to the sumrer of 1992, you worked
w th your brother Abel involving some contracts that had nothing to
do with these two individuals, is that correct?" Juan Cardenas
testified that he had assisted the DEA on the unrelated cases
during 1992 and that, as a result of his efforts and assi stance,
t he DEA recovered several hundred kil ograns of cocaine in Califor-
nia and over a ton of marihuana in North Carolina. Agent Hester
verified this information in his testinony. And, during closing
argunent, the prosecutor enphasized this information in order to
explain the extent to which Juan Cardenas put hinself at risk.

Medi na- Reyes and Rodriguez-Santillan contend that this
testi nony and argunent were i nfl ammatory and hi ghly prejudicial and
inviolation of FED. R EwiD. 103, 404(b), and 608(b). Rule 404(Db)
provides in part that "[e]vidence of other crinmes, wongs, or acts

is not adm ssible to prove the character of a person in order to
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show action in conformty therewmth. It may, however, be adm ssi -
ble for other purposes . . . ." The purpose of the testinony was
to denonstrate Juan Cardenas's notive for testifying and to explore
hi s possi ble bias, not to prove character. Moreover, the prosecu-
tor purposely included in the question the phrase "that had not hi ng
to do wth these two individuals."” The closing argunent simlarly
coment ed on Juan Cardenas's notive and bias. At no point did the
prosecution attenpt to relate these other transactions to the
def endant s.

Nei ther did the evidence violate rule 608(b), which provides
in part, "Specific instances of the conduct of a witness, for the
pur pose of attacking or supporting the witness' credibility,
may not be proved by extrinsic evidence." Rule 608(b)'s applica-
tion "is limted to i nstances where the evidence is introduced to
show a witness's general character for truthful ness.™ United

States v. Opager, 589 F.2d 799, 801 (5th Cr. 1979). Evi dence

tending to uncover bias or notive for testifying truthfully is
distinct fromsuch evidence and i s adm ssi bl e notw thstanding rul e

608(b) . United States v. Martinez, 962 F.2d 1161, 1164-65 (5th

Cir. 1992). The evidence did not attenpt to prove Juan Cardenas's
trut hful ness, but rather explained his notive for testifying and
hi s possible bias. Thus, the evidence was properly admtted. The
district court's jury charge that "you are [not] called upon to
return a verdict as to guilt or innocence of any other person or
persons not on trial as a defendant in this case" further elim -

nat ed any possi bl e prejudice.

11



| V.
Medi na- Reyes argues that the district court erred in denying
his notion for severance under FED. R CRM P. 14. W review the

district court's decision for abuse of discretion. Uni ted St ates

v. Sherrod, 964 F.2d 1501 (5th Gr.), cert. denied, 113 S. C. 832

(1992). Reversal is warranted "only if the appellant can denon-
strate conpelling prejudice against which the trial court was

unable to afford protection.” United States v. WIllians, 809 F.2d

1072, 1084 (5th Gir.), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 896 (1987).

Rule 14 provides, in part, "If it appears that a defendant

is prejudiced by a joinder of offenses or of defendants in an
indictment . . . , the court may order . . . separate trials of
counts, grant a severance of defendants or provi de whatever other
relief justice requires.” Medina-Reyes clains that two of his co-
defendants at the tinme of the indictnent, Jose Arellano and
Rodri guez-Santillan, woul d gi ve excul patory testinony if called as
W tnesses. To be eligible for severance on that basis, a defendant
must establish (1) a bona fide need for the testinony, (2) the
subst ance of the testinony, (3) its excul patory nature and effect,
and (4) that the co-defendants will in fact testify. WIIians, 809
F.2d at 1084.

The district court found that the supporting affidavits were
not particularly exculpatory. Arellano's affidavit nerely stated
t hat he did not know Medi na- Reyes. Rodriguez-Santillan's affidavit
sinply stated that he denied working for Medina-Reyes and knew of

no drug trafficking conducted by him In addition, the district

12



court found that there was no evidence that either co-defendant
woul d testify at Medi na- Reyes's separate trial but not at a joint
trial.

Bot h factors wei gh agai nst Medi na- Reyes's notion. Therefore,
the district court did not abuse its discretion. Mreover, even if
Medi na- Reyes woul d have benefited froma separate trial, he failed
to denonstrate conpelling prejudice fromhis joint trial that would

warrant reversal of his conviction.?

V.
Medi na- Reyes al so noved under FED. R CRIM P. 8(b) to sever the
of fenses charged against him from those charges against other

def endants. Joinder is a nmatter of | aw revi ewed de novo. Uni t ed

States v. Fortenberry, 914 F.2d 671, 675 (5th Cr. 1990), cert.

deni ed, 499 U.S. 930 (1991).

Rule 8(b) provides in part, "Two or nore defendants may be
charged in the sane indictnent or information if they are alleged
to have participated in the sane act or transaction or in the sane

series of acts or transactions constituting an offense or of-

fenses." Rule 8 is to be broadly construed in favor of initia
joinder. 1d. Additionally, the transaction requirenent of rule 8
is flexible. [d. 1In cases in which defendants are charged with

different substantive offenses on different dates, the charge that

they have nenbership in the sanme conspiracy "legitim zes" their

! The district court instructed the jury to consider and eval uate separately
t he charges agai nst each def endant.
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initial joinder in one indictnent. United States v. Lindell, 881

F.2d 1313, 1318 (5th Gr. 1989), cert. denied, 493 U S 1087

(1990). Moreover, rule 8(b) recognizes "a preference in the
federal system for joint trials of defendants who are indicted

together." Zafiro v. United States, 113 S. C. 933, 937 (1993).

Medi na- Reyes was the key figure in the indictnent, as he is
the only defendant naned in all seven counts. All defendants were
charged with a three-year conspiracy to possess controlled
substances with the intent to distribute them and all of the
substantive offenses charged occurred within the tine-period
specified in the conspiracy counts. Therefore, there was suffi-
ci ent connection anong the counts and anong t he defendants for the
district court to find that Medi na- Reyes and his co-defendants are
"all eged to have participated in the sane act or transaction or in
the sane series of acts or transactions constituting an offense or

of f enses. "

VI,

Finally, Gandara contends that the evidence was insufficient
to support his conviction for possession of cocaine with intent to
di stribute. The standard for reviewng a conviction allegedly
based upon i nsufficient evidence is whether a reasonable jury could
find that the evidence establishes the guilt of the defendant

beyond a reasonable doubt. United States V. Sanchez,

961 F.2d 1169, 1173 (5th Cr.) (citation omtted), cert. denied,

113 S. &. 330 (1992). The evidence is reviewed in the |ight nost
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favorable to the governnent, drawing all reasonable inferences in

support of the verdict. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U S. 307 (1979).

But if the evidence viewed in the light nost favorable to the
prosecution gives equal or nearly equal circunstantial support to
a theory of guilt and a theory of innocence, the conviction should

be reversed. United States v. Menesses, 962 F.2d 420, 426 (5th

Cr. 1992) (citations omtted). It is not necessary that the

evi dence excl ude every reasonabl e hypot hesis of innocence, United

States v. Stone, 960 F.2d 426, 430-31 (5th Cr. 1992); the jury is
free to choose anbng reasonable constructions of the evidence,

United States v. Bell, 678 F.2d 547, 549 (5th Gr. Unit B 1982) (en

banc), aff'd, 462 U S. 356 (1983). The only question is whether a
rational jury could have found that the evidence established each
essential elenent of the of fense beyond a reasonabl e doubt. United

States v. Jackson, 700 F.2d 181, 185 (5th Cr.) (citation omtted),

cert. denied, 464 U S. 842 (1983).

To obtain a conviction under § 841(a)(1), the governnment nust
prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Gandara (1) know ngly
(2) possessed cocaine (3) with the intent to distribute it.
Possessi on may be actual or constructive and may be established by

circunstanti al evi dence. United States v. O nel as-Rodri qguez, 12

F.3d 1339, 1346 (5th Gr.), cert. denied, 1994 U S LEXIS 4729

(1994). Suspicious circunstances, in conjunction wth control over
illegal narcotics, can give rise to an inference of know ng

possession. United States v. Pineda-Ortuno, 952 F.2d 98, 102 (5th

Cr.), cert. denied, 112 S. C. 1990 (1992). Finally, the intent
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to distribute may be inferred fromthe possession of a | arge anount

of narcotics. United States v. Ayala, 887 F.2d 62, 68 (5th Cr.

1989) .

Sufficient evidence supports the jury's conclusion that
Gandara drove the narcotics-filled car to Chicago i n Novenber 1991,
that he knew the narcotics were in the car, and that the drugs were
intended for distribution. Abel testified that Gandara knew Abe
was in the drug snuggling business and allowed himto park cars in
front of his house. Steve Cardenas testified that vehicles were
altered and | oaded at Gandara's house. And Abel testified that
Gandara was present when Abel built a false conpartnent in a car

Arellano testified that he made a drug-running trip to Chi cago
in a Ford Taurus in Novenber 1991 and that, when he arrived at the
hotel, Gandara was present with Juan and Abel Cardenas. Gandar a,
Abel, and their famlies returned the Taurus to El Paso, and
Gandara hel ped Arellano re-register the Taurus in Arellano's nane.
Gandara's enpl oyees testified that Gandara m ssed work for three
weeks in Novenber 1991, allegedly because he was having an
appendicitis operation, but neither Gandara's wife and nor his
daughter nentioned any operation during this tine period.

G ven Gandara's obvi ous know edge of the general operation
the vehicles used, and the false conpartnents, and given his
presence at the hotel and absence from work for three weeks, the
jury was justified in concluding that Gandara know ngly possessed
the cocaine. The quantity of drugs supported the inference that it

was i ntended for distribution. Mreover, Gandara's claimthat the
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verdi cts were inconsistent (because of his acquittal on the other
counts), even if true, would not alone warrant reversal. United

States v. Straach, 987 F.2d 232, 240-41 (5th Gr. 1993).

AFF| RMED.
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